1989

Vernessa Reed v. Merrill W. Reed, Keith Reed, Georga Reed and John Does 1-15 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from an Order and Judgment concerning a Motion to Quash Service. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Section 78-2a-3 (1986 amended).

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether a trial court erred in denying the Defendant's Motion to Quash Service given that the service was delivered at the residence of the Defendant's parents and not the residence of the Defendant.

DETERMINATIVE RULES

Rule 4(e)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states:

(e) Personal service in state. Personal service within the state shall be as follows:

(1) Upon a natural person of the age of 14 years or over, by delivering a copy thereof to him personally, or by leaving such copy at this usual place of abode with some person of suitable age and discretion there residing; or by delivering a copy to an agent authorized by appointment or by law to receive service of process.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case and Course of the Proceedings.

This appeal is from the ruling of Judge Cullen Y. Christensen dated October 3, 1988 and from the amended default judgment against Keith Reed only, dated November 2, 1988. The Order and Judgment resolving the issues between the other litigants in the matter was signed by the Honorable Cullen Y. Christensen on July 11, 1989. A Motion for Amendment of Judgment under Rule 59 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure was filed by the Plaintiff against the Defendants Merrill W. Reed and Georga Reed on June 20, 1989 with the response being filed by Georga Reed and Merrill Reed on July 5, 1989. No decision has been entered on the Motion to Amend the Judgment. But that Motion does not affect the determination of the Court relative to Keith Reed's Motion to Quash Service.

The Appellant, Keith Reed, appeals from the Court's ruling

denying his Motion to Quash Service in this mater and from the Default Judgment rendered against him based upon that alleged "defective" service. The Summons and Complaint in this case were served by leaving a copy of the same with the Appellant' parents under the assumption that the parent's residence was the Appellant's "usual place of abode." (Findings, paragraph 2, attached as Addendum A). However, the Appellant, Keith Reed, denies that he was living with his parents and further that his parent's address was not his "usual place of abode" at the time of service. (Plaintiff's Addendum A).

B. Statement of Facts.

Merrill W. Reed and Georga Reed (hereafter "parents") are the parents of Keith Reed, the Defendant (Paragraph 1, Addendum A). On May 8, 1988, the Sheriff purportedly served process on the Defendant by leaving a copy of the Summons and Complaint at the parents' residence. (Paragraph 2, Addendum A). The Sheriff assumed that the residence of the parents was the Defendant's "usual place of abode", even though the parents denied that their son lived there and that they did not know of his whereabouts. (Paragraph 2, Addendum A).

The Affidavits taken at trial affirmed that at the time of the purported service, Keith Reed did not reside with his parents; the Affidavits also acknowledge that the parents claimed

their son had left the State of Utah (Addendum A).

The Plaintiff and the Defendant were separated some time during June 1986, and were divorced on or about April 15, 1987. (Addendum A, paragraph 4). Thereafter, the Plaintiff claim to have seen the Defendant a couple of times during May 1988, at which time the Defendant was allegedly driving a pickup truck purportedly owned by his parents (Addendum A, paragraph 5). Treasa Norton, the daughter of the Plaintiff and the Defendant also claimed to have seen the Defendant once at the end of April 1988 under similar circumstances (Addendum A, paragraph 5).

The parents of the Defendant reside at 254 North 300 East, Orem, Utah 84057 (Addendum A, paragraph 7). Some time prior to April 15 of 1987 and 1988, the Defendant listed his parents' address on his income tax returns. (Addendum A, paragraph 9). The trial court found that the Defendant became aware of the service of process about a month after his parents were served. (Addendum A, paragraph 10).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying the Defendant's Motion to Quash Service and in ordering default judgment against the Defendant for several reasons. First, according to the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and Utah case law, it is proper compliance with the formalities of process is a prerequisite to

the exercise of jurisdiction by the Court. If these formalities are not complied with, then the Court has no jurisdiction. Second, the manner of service made upon the Defendant in the present case, did not satisfy the requirements of the Rules of Civil Procedure. Instead of delivering a copy of the Summons and Complaint to the Defendant's "usual place of abode" as required by the rules, the Sheriff delivered the papers to the residence of the Defendant's parents. The Sheriff made this delivery even after the Defendant's parents informed him that their son no longer lived at their home.

Utah case law also supports a third reason why the service should have been quashed; the fact that the Defendant may have had "actual notice" of the present action does not remove the formal requirements for proper service. The rules of civil procedure do not rely on the chance that parties will hear, through the family grapevine, that they are being sued.

Finally, as an alternative to personal service, the Plaintiff could have obtained Court permission to make service by publication and mailing if they were unable to properly serve Defendant. However, the Plaintiff failed to make any such effort.

For these reasons, the trial court erred in denying the Defendant's Motion to Quash Service. The decision of the trial

court should be reversed and the Defendant should be allowed to defend himself in this action.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO QUASH SERVICE BECAUSE THAT SERVICE WAS MADE UPON THE DEFENDANT'S PARENTS AND NOT UPON THE DEFENDANT.

- A. Proper compliance with the formalities of service is a prerequisite to invoking jurisdiction of a court and to acquiring jurisdiction over a defendant.

It is one of the most fundamental rules of civil procedure that before any court can exercise jurisdiction over a party, there must be proper issuance and service of summons. Murdock v. Blake, 402 P.2d 164 (Utah 1971) Utah Sand and Gravel Products v. Tolbert, 402 P.2d 703 (Utah 1965); Lloyd v. Third Judicial District Court, 495 P.2d 1262 (Utah 1972). The Utah Supreme Court summarized the importance of proper service as follows:

the proper issuance and service of a summons which is the means of invoking the jurisdiction of the court and of acquiring jurisdiction of the defendant is the foundation of the lawsuit. Utah Sand and Gravel Products v. Tolbert, 402 P.2d 703 (Utah 1965).

Rule 4(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure outlines the requisites of proper service that are applicable in the present case. Rule 4(e) provides that process may be validly served upon an individual

by delivering a copy to him personally, or leaving such copy [i.e., copy of the summons and complaint] at his usual place of abode with some person of suitable age and discretion there residing. Utah R. Civ. P. 4(e).

Without proper service in the present case, the court would have no jurisdiction over the Defendant except to uphold his motion to quash the attempted service.

- B. The residence of the Defendant's parents did not constitute the Defendant's "usual place of abode" required by Rule 4(e).

The Defendant in the present case does not assert that his parents are not of suitable age and discretion, but rather, that the Defendant's "usual place of abode" was not his parents' residence at the time service was attempted. Thus, it is necessary to determine what is meant by the term "usual place of abode" as set forth in Rule 4(e). One of the Plaintiff's arguments is that since the Defendant listed his parents' address on his income tax forms, this is sufficient to constitute the Defendant's "usual place of abode." However, at the time the Sheriff left the Summons and Complaint at the parent's residence, the parents informed the Sheriff that the Defendant did not live there. Moreover, the Affidavits taken in the course of these proceedings affirm that the Defendant was not living at his parent's home when the service was made. In Stan Katz Real Estate Inc. v. Chavez, 565 P.2c 1142, Justice Crockett emphasized the seriousness which should be given to affidavit testimony:

It is my view that the defendant's statement in his affidavit under oath that he did not reside at that address and had not received the summons stands

unrefuted.

Thus, it seems that while the parent's residence may have been the Defendant's last known address according to his income tax forms, it was not his present address at the time service was attempted.

In delineating what is required for proper service, the Utah Supreme Court explained that delivering summons to a person's last known address does not satisfy the requirement:

Neither 'Notice of the Action' nor summons mailed to the defendant at his last known address will give jurisdiction over the defendant." Lloyd v. Third Judicial District Court, 495 P.2d 1262 (Utah 1972).

Thus, merely leaving a copy of the Summons and the Complaint at the parent's residence was not sufficient; particularly since the Defendant's parents explained that the Defendant no longer lived with them. The only possible way this service would have been valid is if the Defendant's parents were agents of the Defendant appointed to receive service for him which they were not. Garcia v. Garcia, 712 P.2d 288 (Utah 1986). In sum, while the question of whether a party has been served with process is a question of fact, Carnes v. Carnes, 668 P.2d 555 (Utah 1983), the facts in the present case show that the personal service attempted on the Defendant was unsuccessful.

C. The fact that the Defendant may have had "Notice of the Present Action" does not remove the formal requirements for proper service.

The Supreme Court of Utah in Murdock v. Blake, 484 P.2d 164 (Utah 1971), explained the importance of complying with the requirements of personal service whether or not the party to be served has actual knowledge of the action.

. . . for it is service of process, not actual knowledge of the commencement of the action, which confers jurisdiction. Otherwise, a defendant could never object to the sufficiency of service of process, since he must have knowledge of the suit to make such objection. The proper issuance and service of summons . . . cannot be supplanted by mere notice by letter, telephone or any other such means. (emphasis added)

Id. at 167.

Using the Supreme Court's reasoning in Blake, the attempted service on the Defendant cannot be deemed proper merely because he may have found out about the action in some other way, such as hearing the news from his parents. Certainly, the news of a summon would travel like wildfire, especially within a family, but the rules of civil procedure do not rely and indeed, refuse to rely on such a haphazard method of informing parties that they are being sued. The Utah Supreme Court has echoed this argument in other cases. Lloyd v. Third Judicial District Court, 495 P.2c 1262 (Utah 1972); Utah Sand & Gravel Products Corp. v. Tolbert, 402 P.2d 703 (Utah 1965).

- D. Alternative means should have been used to give proper notice to the Defendant when the attempt at personal service failed.

In Guenther v. Guenther, 749 P.2d 628 (Utah 1988), the Utah Supreme Court discussed possible alternatives for giving proper notice to parties who could not be personally served. The facts of Guenther are relevant to the facts of the present case. In Guenther, the defendant had resided at his mother's home. Id. at 630. However, when the Sheriff attempted personal service on the defendant at his mother's residence, the defendant's mother said that she did not have an address for him and that she did not know of his whereabouts. Id. Following the Sheriff's unsuccessful attempts to serve the defendant personally, the court permitted service by publication and by mailing a copy of the summons to the defendant's last known address. Id. The Guenther court, stated that the state had an interest in allowing the plaintiffs to obtain jurisdiction over defendant's who were in the state, but could not be found and personally served. Id. at 629. In furthering that interest, the court gave guidelines for plaintiffs who were unsuccessful in their attempts at personal service:

. . . following [the] Sheriff's unsuccessful attempts to serve [the] defendant over [an] extended period of time plaintiff was entitled to move for and obtain an order authorizing service of [the] summons on [the] defendant by publication and by mailing copies of [the] summons to him at his last known address.

Id. Thus, the law has provided effective methods to serve process on difficult-to-find defendants. However, the Plaintiffs

in the present case did not follow any of the alternative methods provided. First, the record did not show that the attempts of personal service on the defendant took place over an "extended period of time." Second, the Plaintiff did not even attempt to obtain an order allowing for publication and service by mail.

In sum, the records and the affidavits taken support the claim that the Defendant was not residing at his parent's residence when personal service was attempted. Therefore, the attempted personal service was invalid. The only other alternative for the Plaintiff was to obtain the Court's permission to serve the Defendant by publication which they did not do. Accordingly, the Defendant's Motion to Quash should be upheld.