1989

# Vernessa Reed v. Merrill W. Reed, Keith Reed, Georga Reed and John Does 1-15 : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal by only one of the defendants, Keith Reed from an Order and Judgment denying his Motion to Quash Service. Jurisdiction is proper under 78-2a-3 UCA, on referral from the Court of Appeals.

ISSUES PRESENTED:

1. Whether the Appeal was timely filed.
2. Whether the trial court erred in denying Defendant's Motion to Quash.

DETERMINATIVE RULES:

1. As to timeliness, Rule 4(a), Rules of the Utah Supreme Court (and Utah Court of Appeals).
2. As to propriety of service, Rule 4(e)(1), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE:

A. Nature of the Case and Course of the Proceedings:

Defendant Keith Reed only, appeals from a Ruling from Judge Christensen dated October 3, 1988, filed October 4, 1988, and from an Amended Default Judgment dated and filed November 2, 1988. Notice of Appeal was filed with the District Court

August 4, 1989, some ten months after the filing date of the Ruling, and nine months after the Judgment was filed.

B. Statement of Facts:

Plaintiff and Defendant Keith Reed were husband and wife until that marriage was terminated in a divorce in Fourth District, Utah County, Case No. CV96-1419. As part of the divorce, Plaintiff was granted judgment vesting ownership in plaintiff of various items of personal property, including a travel trailer and a four-wheel Ford pickup truck. Defendant, a construction worker, left the state and has since periodically resided with his parents in Orem. After much anguish, Defendant's father finally returned the travel trailer and other property, but not the truck.

On May 8, 1988, Keith Reed was served with summons at his parents home, where he resided at all times during pendency of the divorce action, the constable made his service on the parents, who were also both named defendants, and left Keith's copy, as a service on him at his "usual place of abode with *some person of suitable age and discretion there residing*" (Rule 4(e)(1), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

On May 25, 1988, Keith Reed appeared specially and filed a Motion To Quash Service, thru Richard B. Johnson, the same attorney who has represented his parents and him throughout this case. Attached were three affidavits, one from Keith, denying that he lived with his parents, and one from each parent, likewise denying that he lived at their home. All three affidavits are self-serving statements from the three persons who have conspired to deprive Plaintiff of her due rights to her property. Each is notably lacking in any effort to establish just where Keith resided then or now.

By way of Counteraffidavit, Plaintiff detailed the facts: (see copy attached as Exhibit #1), that she personally saw Keith in Provo on May 7th, the day before service was made, and again on May 12th, just a few days after service was made. Checks with his employer, his union and Utah DMV still showed his parents address in Orem as his residence. She had also seen Keith during the same time period, driving the truck in issue, and had seen it parked at his parent's home.

A similar affidavit from Treasa Norton, affirms the fact that Keith was still living in Orem at his parents home shortly before service was made. That Keith made his home with his parents in Orem was admitted by all of them during the long drawn out processes of the divorce, and was not seriously contested until months after the Default Judgment was filed.

On August 1, 1988, Defendant counsel requested an Evidentiary Hearing, See Exhibit #2. That request was granted in a Ruling dated August 26, 1988, see Exhibit #3 attached. When the parties appeared at the hearing, Defendant Keith Reed did not appear and his attorney had no evidence to present, but Plaintiff produced in court a copy of Defendant Keith Reed's 1986 and 1987 income tax returns, filed in early 1988, on which he still claimed his parents address as his residence.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT:

1. The Ruling appealed from was filed ten months before the Notice of Appeal; the Amended Judgment was filed nine months before the Notice of Appeal, the Appeal was not timely.

2. Service on the Defendant, at the home of his parents, where he had lived for the three years preceeding filing of this action was presumptively proper, and did in fact result in notice to said defendant. He then has the burden of proving



that he does not reside where service was made. No such proof was given.

ARGUMENT:

POINT I: AN APPEAL TO BE TIMELY  
MUST BE FILED WITHIN 30 DAYS

The time for filing an appeal to either the Appeals Court or Supreme Court of the State of Utah is the same; the wording of the two rules, insofar as applicable to this appeal are identical.

"Rule 4 APPEAL AS OF RIGHT: WHEN TAKEN  
(a) APPEAL FROM FINAL JUDGMENT AND ORDER.  
In a case in which an appeal is permitted as a matter of right from the district court to the Supreme Court, the notice of appeal required by Rule 3 shall be filed with the clerk of the district court within 30 days after the date of entry of the judgment or order appealed from..."

In this case, it is obvious that the Notice of Appeal, copy attached as Exhibit #4, dated August 4, 1989, was not timely filed, post dating the appealed Ruling by ten months, and the appealed Judgment by nine months. Not being timely, this court has no jurisdiction. See Burgers vs. Maiben, 652 P.2d 1320 ; this court "cannot take jurisdiction over an appeal which is not timely brought before it." Also see Amica Mutual Insurance Co. vs. Schettler, 768 P.2d 950 at 970 (Utah App. 1989.)

POINT II: SERVICE OF SUMMONS AT DEFENDANT'S  
USUAL PLACE OF ABODE, ON HIS PARENTS, WHERE HE  
HAD LIVED FOR THREE YEARS PRIOR, IS PRESUMPTIVELY  
VALID, AND DEFENDANT CLAIMING TO LIVE ELSEWHERE  
HAS THE BURDEN OF PROVING THAT CONTENTION BY EVIDENCE.

When the parties separated, prior to their divorce, in 1986, Keith Reed went to live with his parents in Orem. He so testified in several hearings on child support, property division and related divorce issues. His whereabouts were well known to his wife and their two teenage daughters. They saw him regularly, and were in communication with his parents too.

Keith's parents, openly supporting their son in his unlawful efforts to hide property decreed to his ex-wife, have always maintained that Keith was "out of the state", when the frequent appearances, and continuous giving out of his parents address as his legal residence, prove that they are not telling the truth. They had submitted Affidavits denying his residency, as did Keith himself, but all the three affidavits are noticeably lacking in one respect; none give any other address as being his residence. Defense counsel obviously must know Keith's whereabouts, but instead of presenting evidence as to Keith's present residence, at the Hearing he had requested, counsel elected to stand on a bare denial.

That was a fatal mistake; the burden of proof is on one claiming he was not served at his residence, to show that he actually resides some other place. The Defendants are so anxious to prevent Plaintiff from learning of Keith's whereabouts (because he owes back support, and for the personal property he converted), that they failed to put on any evidence, other than a blank denial that he lived with his parents. That failure was duly noted in Judge Christensen's Ruling and the subsequently filed Findings and Decree.

Judge Christensen's Ruling, copy attached as Addendum "A" to the Appellant's Brief, correctly cites the definition of "usual place of abode" in Grant vs. Lawrence 37 Ut. 450, 108 P.931, as the place where defendant lives. He knows where he

lives, only he can present that evidence; for him to simply deny that he lives where served is insufficient. It is a question of fact to be determined by the court. (Carnes vs. Carnes, 668 P.2d 555, and the court gave defendant an evidentiary hearing on September 26, 1988. At that hearing Defendant stood moot, electing not to disclose his whereabouts. The court concluded, therefore that he had no evidence to combat the presumption that service was proper, and since he clearly was appraised of the action against him, under Guenther vs. Guenther 749 P.2d 628, defendant was remiss in not presenting evidence sufficient to overcome the presumption.

The obvious purpose of the rule, to see that a defendant is appraised of the suit against him conforms to the interpretation cited by Judge Christensen (referring to Nowell vs Nowell, 384 F.2d 951, 32 ALR 3rd 107,) and is met in this case. The fact that Defendant allowed the court to proceed to issue a Default Judgment against him, after making a vain effort to quash the summons shows only that he knew Plaintiff to be entitled to the relief she sought. Counsel gives no explanation for failure to file an Answer, or having allowed the Default Judgment to be taken, or any good reason why it should not be sustained on appeal.

#### CONCLUSION


1. Defendant Keith Reed appeals from a Ruling and Default Judgment, but his appeal was not filed within the 30 days allowed for an appeal; no extention was obtained, and this court therefore lacks jurisdiction to hear the present appeal.

2. Defendant claims he was not residing at his parents home, where he was served, but failed at an evidentiary hearing to give evidence as to where he was residing; the presumption

that he was regularly served was not adversed, and the court correctly ruled that he had been properly served and that he was required to file an answer. After due delay, and no Answer being filed, he was properly defaulted, and the Judgment entered against him was not appealed from in a timely manner and must be affirmed.

3. This appeal is on its face frivolous and untimely, ; under Rule 33, Rules of Utah Supreme Court, Respondent ought to be awarded both her costs and a reasonable attorneys fee, \$2,000..